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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION
MICHAEL E. REDIGER, individually and on
behalf of all others similarly situated,

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff,
v.
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.,
Defendant.

Case No. ______

DEFENDANT JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.’S
NOTICE OF REMOVAL
Defendant JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (“JPMorgan”), through its undersigned counsel,
hereby files this Notice of Removal to remove this action from the Circuit Court of Cook County,
Illinois, County Department, Chancery Division to the United States District Court for the
Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332, 1441(a), and 1446.
As grounds for removal, JPMorgan states as follows:
1.

On June 30, 2021, Plaintiff Michael Rediger (“Rediger”), initiated this action by

filing a putative class action complaint in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois, County
Department, Chancery Division. A true and correct copy of Rediger’s complaint and the service
papers relating thereto are attached as Exhibit A and Exhibit B, respectively.
2.

In his complaint, Rediger, an attorney, alleges that his business operating account

became overdrawn when a $5,000 check that he deposited into that account bounced and he was
charged a $12 “Deposited Item Returned fee.” (Ex. A Compl. ¶¶ 38-39.) JPMorgan subsequently
set-off the overdrawn balance in Rediger’s business operating account using funds held by Rediger
in his Interest of Lawyer Trust Account, or “IOLTA.” (Id. ¶¶ 7, 40).
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3.

On behalf of himself and all others similarly situated, Rediger asserts a claim of

conversion (id. ¶¶ 57-66), and also seeks a declaratory judgment that, (i) his Deposit Account
Agreement does not supersede Ill. Rules of Prof’l Conduct R. 1.15, and (ii) JPMorgan may not
unilaterally withdraw funds from an IOLTA to satisfy any debt of another account. (Id. ¶¶ 66-75).
In addition to declaratory relief, Rediger’s complaint seeks injunctive relief as well as actual,
compensatory, general, special, incidental, statutory, punitive, and consequential damages, costs,
and disgorgement “in an amount to be determined at trial.” (Id. at 15-16 ¶¶ b-c.) The complaint
does not include an ad damnum clause or otherwise specify the amount of damages sought.
4.

Rediger served JPMorgan with his complaint on July 15, 2021. On August 17,

2021, the state court granted JPMorgan’s unopposed motion for a 45-day extension of time to
answer or otherwise plead so that the parties could explore a potential resolution of this matter.
True and correct copies of JPMorgan’s motion and the state court’s order are attached as Exhibits
C and D, respectively.
5.

On August 20, 2021, JPMorgan, through its undersigned counsel, received a

settlement demand from Rediger’s counsel in excess of $75,000. See Aff. of H. Coustan, attached
as Exhibit E.
NOTICE OF REMOVAL IS TIMELY
6.

28 U.S.C. § 1446(a) states, inter alia, that “defendants desiring to remove any civil

action from a State court shall file in the district court of the United States for the district and
division within which such action is pending a notice of removal . . . containing a short and plain
statement of the grounds for removal.” Where the case stated by the initial pleading is not
removable, “a notice of removal may be filed within thirty days after receipt by the defendant,
through service or otherwise, of a copy of an amended pleading, motion, order or other paper from
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which it may first be ascertained that the case is one which is or has become removable.” 28
U.S.C. § 1446(c).
7.

This Notice of Removal is timely because it is being filed within 30 days after

receipt of “other paper”—here, Rediger’s August 20, 2021 settlement demand—from which
JPMorgan could first ascertain that the case was removable, as required by 28 U.S.C. § 1446(c). 1
See Morrow v. Daimlerchrysler Corp., 451 F. Supp. 2d 965, 969 (N.D. Ill. 2006) (holding postcomplaint settlement letter is “other paper” sufficient to establish the jurisdictional minimum for
removal on the basis of diversity jurisdiction).
THIS COURT HAS ORIGINAL JURISDICTION UNDER 28 U.S.C. § 1332(A)(1)
8.

28 U.S.C. § 1441(a) states that “any civil action brought in a State court of which

the district courts of the United States have original jurisdiction, may be removed by the defendant
or defendants . . . .”
9.

This is a civil action within the original jurisdiction of the district courts of the

United States under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a)(1) because the amount in controversy exceeds $75,000
and the parties are citizens of different states.
10.

According to Rediger’s demand letter, the amount in controversy exceeds $75,000.

See Rising-Moore v. Red Roof Inns, Inc., 435 F.3d 813, 816 (7th Cir. 2006) (holding that plaintiff’s
lawyer’s statement of what plaintiff’s loss amounts to “is the amount ‘in controversy’”).
11.

Rediger alleges that he is a citizen of Illinois and resides in DuPage County, Illinois.

1

Plaintiff’s complaint, which did not disclose the amount of monetary damages sought, did not
start the 30-day time limit for removal. See Walker v. Trailer Transit, Inc., 727 F.3d 819, 824
(7th Cir. 2013) (“The 30–day removal clock does not begin to run until the defendant receives a
pleading or other paper that affirmatively and unambiguously reveals that the predicates for
removal are present. With respect to the amount in controversy in particular, the pleading or
other paper must specifically disclose the amount of monetary damages sought.”).
3
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12.

JPMorgan Chase is a national banking association with its main offices, as

designated in its articles of incorporation, located at 1111 Polaris Parkway, Columbus, Ohio
43240.
THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS IS THE PROPER VENUE
13.

This Court is the proper venue for this action. 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a) provides that a

civil action may be removed “to the district court of the United States for the district and division
embracing the place where such action is pending.” The United States District Court for the
Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, is the “district and division embracing” Cook
County. 28 U.S.C. § 93(a)(1). Therefore, venue is proper in this court.
COMPLIANCE WITH STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS
14.

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1446(d), a true and correct copy of this Notice of Removal

will be filed with Cook County Circuit Court promptly after filing the same in this Court.
15.

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1446(d), written notice of filing this Notice of Removal

will be served on all adverse parties promptly after the filing of the same in this Court.
RESERVATION OF RIGHTS AND DEFENSES
16.

By filing this Notice of Removal, JPMorgan does not waive any defenses that may

be available to it and reserves all such defenses. In addition, JPMorgan does not concede that
Rediger has stated any claim upon which relief may be granted, or that Rediger is entitled to any
relief of any nature.
CONCLUSION
17.

The action initiated by Rediger may be removed to this Court by JPMorgan in

accordance with the provisions of 28 U.S.C. § 1441 because: (i) this action is a civil action pending
within the jurisdiction of the United States Court for the Northern District of Illinois, (ii) the action
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is between citizens of different states, (iii) JPMorgan is not a citizen of the state in which the action
was brought, and (iv) the amount in controversy exceeds $75,000, exclusive of interest and costs.

Dated: September 17, 2021

Respectfully submitted,
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
By: /s/ Hillary Coustan
Hillary W. Coustan
Leonard A. Gail
MASSEY & GAIL LLP
Cook County Firm No. 56232
50 E. Washington Street – Suite 400
Chicago, Illinois 60602
(312) 283-1590 main
hcoustan@masseygail.com
lgail@masseygail.com
Attorneys for Defendant JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
The undersigned, an attorney, hereby certifies that a true and correct copy of the
foregoing was filed on September 17, 2021 via the electronic filing system of the Northern
District of Illinois and served upon the following individuals by email:
Elizabeth A. Fegan
FEGAN SCOTT LLC
150 S. Wacker Drive, 24th Floor
Chicago, IL 60606
beth@feganscott.com
Jonathan D. Lindenfeld
FEGAN SCOTT LLC
140 Broadway, 46th Floor
New York, NY 10005
jonathan@feganscott.com

/s/ Hillary Weis Coustan
Hillary Weis Coustan
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
COUNTY DEPARTMENT, CHANCERY DIVISION
MICHAEL E. REDIGER, individually and
on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Case No.: 2021CH03216

Plaintiff,
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

v.
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.,
Defendant.

VERIFIED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
Plaintiff Michael E. Rediger (“Plaintiff”), individually and on behalf of all those similarly
situated, complains of Defendant JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (“Defendant” or “Chase”), based
upon his personal knowledge as to facts specific to him and based upon the investigation of counsel
in all other respects, as follows:
INTRODUCTION
1.

It is axiomatic that in a fiduciary relationship an agent acts for the benefit of the

principal, and not the reverse. An attorney is a prototypical agent of their client, and this principle
controls all aspects of the attorney-client relationship.
2.

The prohibition on attorneys benefiting off of their client is broad and includes

minute matters such as interest paid on short-term funds held in trust for the client—even when
the interest paid would be negligible.
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3.

That is why the Illinois Supreme Court in In re Clayter, 78 Ill. 2d 276, 278-79, 399

N.E.2d 1318, 1319 (1980), admonished lawyers that “it is absolutely impermissible for an attorney
to commingle his funds with those of his client or with money he holds as a fiduciary.”
4.

Illinois, like all 50 states, has adopted requirements for attorneys to hold short-term

client funds in bank accounts which pay all interest earned on client funds to designated non-profit
organizations. These accounts are referred to as Interest on Lawyer Trust Accounts or “IOLTAs.”
5.

IOLTAs are heavily regulated in order to protect clients from unscrupulous

attorneys and financial institutions. An attorney may only open an IOLTA at a financial institution
that has agreed to adhere to the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct and has been approved by
the Illinois Attorney Registration & Disciplinary Commission (“ARDC”). Among the conditions
placed on “eligible financial institutions,” banks acting as custodians of IOLTAs are prohibited
from accessing funds placed in an IOLTA in order to benefit any other account. In the event an
IOLTA is overdrawn, eligible financial institutions are required to notify the ARDC.
6.

Plaintiff is an attorney who has been practicing law in Cook County for thirty years.

Since becoming a sole practitioner over twenty years ago, Plaintiff has maintained an IOLTA with
Chase and has at all times been a member in good standing of the Illinois bar.
7.

On February 8, 2021, Chase committed an intentional breach of Plaintiff’s authority

over his IOLTA by converting funds held by Plaintiff in his IOLTA. Chase did so on the purported
basis that it was setting-off an unrelated debt in Plaintiff’s business operating account. Chase’s
conduct was a flagrant violation of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct, as well as Chase’s
Deposit Account Agreement with its customers.
8.

When Plaintiff informed Chase of its violation, Chase asserted that its actions were

permissible under the Deposit Account Agreement and all applicable laws.
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9.

Chase’s corporate policy, which converts funds held in attorney IOLTAs, is not

without consequence. Due to Chase’s conversion of the funds in Plaintiff’s IOLTA, two checks
remitted to Plaintiff’s clients for personal injury lien recoveries bounced. Additionally, Plaintiff
was forced to expend time and money defending himself before an ARDC disciplinary
investigation in order to protect his law license.
10.

Accordingly, Plaintiff brings this lawsuit on behalf of himself and all other similarly

situated Illinois attorneys who maintain IOLTAs with Chase. Plaintiff seeks injunctive and
monetary relief, requiring Defendant to reimburse all funds improperly taken from IOLTAs, a
declaratory judgment pursuant to 735 ILCS 5/2-701 that holds: (i) Chase’s Deposit Account
Agreement does not supersede Rule 1.15 of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct; and (ii)
Chase may not unilaterally withdraw funds from an IOLTA to satisfy any debt of any other
account’s debt, and compensatory damages together with pre-judgment interest to all members of
the Class who suffered an injury caused by Defendant’s conduct.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
11.

This putative class action is brought on behalf of only Illinois citizens admitted to

practice law in the State of Illinois who maintain client trust accounts with Chase.
12.

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 735 ILCS 5/2-209 because Chase regularly

transacts business within the State and has committed tortious acts within the State.
13.

Venue is appropriate in the Circuit Court of Cook County under 735 ILCS 5/2- 101,

et seq., and 735 ILCS 5/2-103 because Chase is located within Cook County and because the
transactions or some part thereof occurred in Cook County, out of which the causes of action arose.
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PARTIES
A. Plaintiff
14.

Plaintiff is a citizen of Illinois and resides in DuPage County, Illinois. Plaintiff is

the sole principal of the Law Office of Michael E. Rediger, d/b/a The Rediger Law Firm, located
at 161 N. Clark St., Ste. 2550, Chicago, IL 60601-3246 (the “Law Office”). Plaintiff maintains the
Law Office’s operating bank account and IOLTA at Chase, and his primary Chase branch is
located at 238 N. State, Chicago, IL 60601. Chase maintains Plaintiff’s IOLTA within the State of
Illinois.
B. Defendant
15.

Defendant Chase is a national banking association with U.S. branches in 38 states

and Washington, D.C. Chase maintains over a hundred retail locations within Chicago alone, and
its Illinois headquarters is located at 10 South Dearborn Street, Chicago, IL 60603.1 On
information and belief, Chase is the largest custodian of IOLTAs in Illinois.
SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS
A. The Illinois Supreme Court requires all Illinois attorneys to maintain IOLTAs and
prohibits the commingling of funds in an attorney’s possession.
16.

As their clients’ fiduciaries, lawyers are prohibited from benefiting off the property

they may hold in trust for their clients. This principle extends to a prohibition on earning interests
from financial institutions that the attorney may utilize to deposit their clients’ funds.
17.

Over the last forty years financial institutions began to offer Interest on Lawyer

Trust Accounts. IOLTAs are pooled, interest- or dividend-bearing business checking accounts for

1

See
Chase,
Chicago,
Illinois
branches
https://locator.chase.com/il/chicago (last accessed June 28, 2021).
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the deposit of client funds that pay all interest earned to various non-profit entities, typically
benefiting indigent members of society.2
18.

In 1983, the Chicago and Illinois State Bar Associations established the Lawyers

Trust Fund (“LTF”), which issues grants to non-profit organizations that provide civil legal aid for
the poor in Illinois. Four years later, in 1987, the Illinois Supreme Court issued a rule mandating
all Illinois attorneys participate in the State’s IOLTA program which benefits the LTF.3
19.

IOLTAs are strictly regulated to ensure that client funds are properly accounted for

and protected.
20.

The most basic tenet of IOLTA regulations is the prohibition on attorneys

comingling their own funds with that of their clients. Rule 1.15(a) of the Illinois Rules of
Professional Conduct demands that Illinois attorneys hold all “property of clients or third persons”
within their possession “separate from the lawyer’s own property.”
21.

Comment 1 to Rule 1.15 adds that “[a]ll property that is the property of clients or

third persons, including prospective clients, must be kept separate from the lawyer’s business and
personal property and, if monies, in one or more client trust accounts.”
22.

Relatedly, Rule 1.15(b) states that an attorney may not deposit their own funds into

an IOLTA, except “for the sole purpose of paying bank service charges on that account, but only
in an amount necessary for that purpose.”

2

Lawyers Trust Fund of Illinois, IOLTA Basics, https://ltf.org/lawyers/iolta-basics/ (last
accessed June 28, 2021).
3

Id.
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23.

The ARDC, which oversees Rule 1.15 compliance, warns attorneys to “NEVER

allow the funds being held for one client or third person to be used, even momentarily, to satisfy
the obligations of another client or third person.”4
24.

In order to ensure that client funds are not inadvertently comingled with third-party

funds, Comment 1 to Rule 1.15 instructs that “[c]lient trust accounts should be made identifiable
through their designation as ‘client trust account’ or ‘client funds account’ or words of similar
import indicating the fiduciary nature of the account.”
25.

IOLTAs may not be opened at any bank willing to open a business checking

account bearing the title “client trust account.” Rather, Rule 1.15(a) requires that attorneys
maintain IOLTAs “at an eligible financial institution in the state where the lawyer’s office is
situated.”
26.

To qualify as an “eligible financial institution,” the bank must satisfy certain

criteria. See Rule 1.15(f), (h), (j)(3).
27.

For instance, all eligible financial institutions must submit a Trust Account

Overdraft Notification agreement to the ARDC, wherein it agrees to notify the ARDC whenever
an IOLTA is overdrawn. See Rule 1.15(h). “This ensures that the ARDC… is aware of mishandling
of trust accounts that may indicate other problems with a lawyer’s conduct.”5

4

Attorney Registration & Disciplinary Commission of the Supreme Court of Illinois,
Client Trust Account Handbook (Revised April 2018),
https://www.iardc.org/ClientTrustAccountHandbook.pdf (last accessed June 28, 2021) (emphasis
added).
5

Lawyers Trust Fund of Illinois, Become an Eligible Financial Institution,
https://ltf.org/financial-institutions/become-an-eligible-financial-institution/ (last accessed June
28, 2021).
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28.

Notably, eligible financial institutions are prohibited from taking funds from an

IOLTA to pay for fees charged to any other account. Rule 1.15(f)(5) states: “Fees in excess of the
earnings accrued on an individual IOLTA account for any month shall not be taken from earnings
accrued on other IOLTA accounts or from the principal of the account.”
29.

When an attorney opens an IOLTA with an eligible financial institution, they must

provide the bank with a form “Notice to Financial Institution to Establish IOLTA Account.”6
Therein, the attorney must direct the bank to remit all interest payments directly to the LTF and
list the tax identification number (TIN) of the LTF on the IOLTA.7 Attorneys must also provide
the LTF with a “Notice of Enrollment in the IOLTA Program” in which the attorney identifies the
IOLTA and financial institution.8
30.

Failure to maintain an IOLTA at an eligible financial institution and adhere to Rule

1.15 of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct can result in ARDC disciplinary actions,
including suspension or revocation of an attorney’s license to practice law.
B. Chase is registered as an “eligible financial institution” and has agreed to adhere to
Rule 1.15 when offering IOLTAs to Illinois attorneys.
31.

Chase is an “eligible financial institution” and permitted to offer IOLTAs under

Rule 1.15.9

6

Lawyers Trust Fund of Illinois, Notice to Financial Institution to Establish IOLTA
Account (Revised Sept. 2015), http://ltf.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/01.IOLTA-Notice-ofEnrollment-9-2015-Fillable.pdf (last accessed June 28, 2021).
7

Id.

8

Id.

9

See Lawyers Trust Fund of Illinois, Eligible Financial Institutions,
https://ltf.org/lawyers/eligible-financial-institutions/ (last accessed June 28, 2021).
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32.

On information and belief, Chase is the largest custodian of attorney IOLTAs in

Illinois. Chase achieved this dominant position amongst the legal profession in Illinois by
promoting its IOLTA services in legal industry periodicals, newsletters, and bar events.
33.

Chase promotes its “Business Checking Accounts” for use by attorneys as IOLTAs.

Chase currently charges Illinois attorneys a $15 Monthly Service/Maintenance Fee for each
IOLTA maintained at the bank.10
34.

Like its general business checking accounts and other client accounts, IOLTAs at

Chase are governed by the bank’s “Deposit Account Agreement.”11
35.

Chase acknowledges that the Agreement does not supersede Rule 1.15 and Chase’s

obligations as an “eligible financial institution.” Specifically, Section IX.A. of the Agreement
states: “This agreement, all accounts and services provided to you, and any dispute relating to
those accounts and services are governed by federal law and, when not superseded by federal law,
the law of the state where your account is located.”12
36.

Chase further states in the Deposit Account Agreement that “[b]usiness trust

accounts for professionals regulated by a state (or a self-regulatory body under a state’s laws) are
located in the designated state.”13

10

Chase, Additional Banking Services and Fees for Business Accounts: Deposit Account
Agreement (effective April 18, 2021),
https://www.chase.com/content/dam/chasecom/en/checking/documents/biz-how-yourtransaction-will-work.pdf (last accessed June 28, 2021).
11

Chase, Deposit Account Agreement and Privacy Notice (effective April 18, 2021),
https://www.chase.com/content/dam/chasecom/en/checking/documents/deposit_account_agreem
ent.pdf (last accessed June 28, 2021).
12

Id.

13

Id.
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C. Chase commingles funds held in Plaintiff’s IOLTA and takes client funds for its
own use, without Plaintiff’s authorization.
37.

Plaintiff is an attorney located in Chicago, Illinois. For over twenty years, Plaintiff

maintained his Law Office’s IOLTA and business operating accounts at Chase.
38.

On February 3, 2021, Plaintiff deposited a $5,000 check into his Chase business

operating account.
39.

On February 8, 2021, Chase learned that the deposited check was issued from a

closed account and returned the deposited proceeds. Additionally, Chase charged Plaintiff a $12
“Deposited Item Returned fee.” As a result of the returned proceeds and Deposited Item Returned
fee, Plaintiff’s business operating account became overdrawn.
40.

The next day, on February 9, 2021, Chase blatantly violated Rule 1.15 by allegedly

setting-off the overdrawn balance with funds held in Plaintiff’s IOLTA. Plaintiff did not provide
authorization to withdraw funds from his IOLTA, nor was he provided prior notice of Chase’s
intention to do so.
41.

Upon post hoc notification of Chase’s actions, Plaintiff promptly contacted Chase

to address the unauthorized taking. Plaintiff explained to a Chase employee that the bank may not
withdraw funds from a client trust account to offset any fees incurred by the Law Office’s business
operating account.
42.

Chase was unswayed and on March 11, 2021, sent a letter to Plaintiff stating that

the Deposit Account Agreement authorizes Chase to “use funds in any of [Plaintiff’s] accounts to
pay all or part of a debt.”
43.

Chase’s unauthorized taking of funds from Plaintiff’s IOLTA in violation of Rule

1.15 was not harmless. Prior to Chase’s withdraw of funds from Plaintiff’s IOLTA, Plaintiff issued
two checks from the IOLTA to his clients related to personal injury recoveries. As a result of
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Chase’s improper withdrawal of funds from Plaintiff’s IOLTA, the two checks bounced due to
nonsufficient funds.
44.

Consequently—and despite Chase’s disregard for Rule 1.15(f)’s prohibition on

taking funds from an IOLTA for the benefit of another account—Chase notified the ARDC of the
overdrawing of Plaintiff’s IOLTA.
45.

After expending considerable time and money on the matter, Plaintiff resolved the

complaint raised by the ARDC, because the overdrawn IOLTA was related to Chase’s improper
actions and not any intentional ethical violations by Plaintiff.
46.

In this process, the ARDC confirmed that Chase, as an eligible financial institution

under Rule 1.15, is not permitted to unilaterally withdraw funds from an attorney’s IOLTA in order
to satisfy charges incurred in personal accounts held for the benefit of another party.
CLASS ALLEGATIONS
47.

Plaintiff brings this action pursuant to 735 ILCS 5/2-801 on behalf of himself and

all others similarly situated.
48.

Plaintiff seeks to represent a class defined as: All lawyers and law firms that

maintain Interest on Lawyer Trust Accounts (IOLTAs) in Illinois at Chase (the “Class”).
49.

Excluded from the Class are Chase, its affiliates, employees, officers and directors,

and the Judge(s) assigned to this case. Plaintiff reserves the right to modify, change, or expand
the Class definition based on discovery and further investigation.
50.

Numerosity: Upon information and belief, the Class is so numerous that joinder of

all members is impracticable. While the exact number and identities of individual members of
the Class are unknown at this time, such information being in the sole possession of Defendant
and obtainable by Plaintiff only through the discovery process, Plaintiff believes, and on that
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basis alleges, that Chase is the largest provider of attorney trust accounts in the State of Illinois
and, as of 2020, there are over 40,000 attorney trust accounts in the State.14
51.

Existence and Predominance of Common Questions of Fact and Law: Common

questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class. These questions predominate over
the questions affecting individual Class Members. These common legal and factual questions
include, but are not limited to:
a. Whether Defendant engaged in the conduct alleged herein;
b. Whether Defendant’s practice using funds held in attorney IOLTAs to setoff
debts incurred in other bank accounts constitute conversion;
c. Whether Defendant’s practices violate Rule 1.15 of the Illinois Rules of
Professional Conduct;
d. Whether Defendant’s Deposit Account Agreement supersedes Rule 1.15 of
the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct; and
e. Whether Plaintiff and Class Members suffered damages as a result of
Chase’s practices, and if so, how much.
52.

Typicality: Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the Class because Plaintiff

is a member of the Bar of Illinois in good standing and his Law Office maintains an IOLTA with
Chase, as does each member of the Class. Furthermore, Plaintiff and all Members of the Class
sustained injuries resulting from Defendant’s wrongful conduct. Plaintiff is advancing the same
claims and legal theories on behalf of himself and all absent Class Members.

14

See Attorney Registration & Disciplinary Commission of the Supreme Court of
Illinois, Annual Report of 2020 (April 30, 2021), https://www.iardc.org/AnnualReport2020.pdf
(last accessed June 28, 2021).
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53.

Adequacy: Plaintiff is an adequate representative because his interests do not

conflict with the interests of the Class that he seeks to represent, he has retained counsel that are
competent and highly experienced in complex class action litigation, and his counsel intend to
prosecute this action vigorously. The interests of the Class will be fairly and adequately protected
by Plaintiff and his counsel.
54.

Superiority: A class action is superior to all other available means of fair and

efficient adjudication of the claims of Plaintiff and Members of the Class. The injury suffered
by each individual Class member is relatively small in comparison to the burden and expense of
individual prosecution of the complex and extensive litigation necessitated by Defendant’s
conduct. It would be virtually impossible for Members of the Class individually to redress
effectively the wrongs done to them. Even if the Members of the Class could afford such
individual litigation, the court system could not. Individualized litigation presents a potential for
inconsistent or contradictory judgments. Individualized litigation increases the delay and
expense to all parties, and to the court system, presented with the complex legal and factual
issues of the case. By contrast, the class action device presents far fewer management difficulties
and provides the benefits of single adjudication, an economy of scale, and comprehensive
supervision by a single court. Upon information and belief, members of the Class can be readily
identified and notified based on, inter alia, Defendant’s database of IOLTAs and the LTF’s
records of Notices to Financial Institution to Establish IOLTA.
55.

Declaratory and Injunctive Relief: Defendant has acted or refused to act on grounds

generally applicable to Plaintiff and the other members of the Class, thereby making appropriate
final injunctive relief and declaratory relief, as described below, with respect to the Class
Members as a whole.
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56.

Defendant has acted, and refused to act, on grounds generally applicable to the

Class, thereby making appropriate final equitable relief with respect to the Class as a whole.
CAUSES OF ACTION
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
Conversion
57.

Plaintiff incorporates by reference each allegation as if fully set forth herein.

58.

Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the other members of the

59.

Plaintiff and the Class have rightful possession and control over the funds held in

Class.

trust for their clients deposited with Chase.
60.

Plaintiff and the Class did not authorize Chase to unilaterally withdraw funds held

in client trust accounts to satisfy debts or charges incurred by any other account.
61.

The Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct, to which Chase has agreed to follow,

prohibit Chase from unilaterally withdrawing funds held in client trust accounts to satisfy debts or
charges incurred by any other account.
62.

Despite its obligations as an “eligible financial institution” under Rule 1.15 and its

acknowledgment that client trust accounts are subject to state and regulatory restrictions, Chase
maintains as a general corporate practice that its Deposit Account Agreement with Plaintiff and
Class Members permits it to “setoff” debts of Plaintiff and Class Members with proceeds in client
trust accounts.
63.

Defendant has acted in accordance with its general practice and has impermissibly

withdrawn funds from Plaintiff’s IOLTA to satisfy charges in his Law Office’s operating account.
In so doing, Defendant converted funds held in Plaintiff’s IOLTA without authority.
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64.

On information and belief, Chase has also engaged in this same practice with

respect to IOLTAs held by other class members. Further, Chase has taken the position that it is
entitled to continue this corporate practice in the future.
65.

As a result of Defendant’s retention of funds impermissibly withdrawn from

Plaintiff’s client trust account, Plaintiff was unable to access such funds, which were needed to
remit payment of his clients’ personal injury liens. Defendant’s conversion of funds from
Plaintiff’s IOLTA also caused Plaintiff to be subjected to disciplinary actions by the ARDC, which
required the expenditure of his time and money, and harmed his goodwill.
66.

As a result of Defendant’s wrongful actions, Plaintiff and the Class were deprived

of the use of funds within their client trust accounts and sustained cognizable losses. Moreover,
they are at continuing risk of injury and irreparable harm as a result of Defendant’s stated policies
in contravention of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct.
SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
Declaratory Judgment
67.

Plaintiff incorporates by reference each allegation as if fully set forth herein.

68.

Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the other members of the

Class, seeking a declaration that Chase is prohibited from withdrawing funds from IOLTAs to
setoff any other debts.
69.

In order to be an “eligible financial institution” authorized to hold Illinois attorney

client funds, Chase is required to adhere to Rule 1.15 of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct.
70.

Rule 1.15(f)(5) prohibits taking funds from an IOLTA to pay for fees charged to

any other account.
71.

Chase maintains that its Deposit Account Agreement permits it to “setoff” debts in

any non-trust account from funds in IOLTAs controlled by the same attorney.
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72.

But the Deposit Account Agreement is subject to state laws and the Illinois Rules

of Professional Conduct, and the Deposit Account Agreement does not supersede Rule 1.15.
73.

An actual controversy exists because Chase has acted in accordance with its general

corporate practice of unilaterally withdrawing funds from IOLTAs to satisfy debts incurred in
other accounts and has indicated its intention to maintain the practice.
74.

A judgment regarding Chase’s rights under the Deposit Account Agreement with

respect to Illinois attorney IOLTAs is capable of a definite and immediate determination and would
aid in the termination of Plaintiff’s claims against Chase for its withdrawal of funds from his
IOLTA.
75.

Accordingly, Plaintiff is entitled to a declaratory judgment pursuant to 735 ILCS

5/2-701 that holds: (i) the Deposit Account Agreement does not supersede Rule 1.15 of the Illinois
Rules of Professional Conduct; and (ii) Chase may not unilaterally withdraw funds from an IOLTA
to satisfy any debt of another account.
REQUEST FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of members of the Class, respectfully
requests that this Court:
a. Certify this action as a class action, proper and maintainable pursuant to 735 ILCS 5/2801, declare that Plaintiff is a proper class representative, and appoint Plaintiff’s
counsel as Class Counsel;
b. Grant appropriate injunctive and/or declaratory relief, including, without limitation, an
order that prohibits Defendant from using funds held in a client trust account to setoff
debts incurred in any other account and requires Defendant to notify the ARDC of all
prior occurrences of improper takings from IOLTAs;
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c. Award Plaintiff and Class Members actual, compensatory, general, special, incidental,
statutory, punitive, and consequential damages, costs, and disgorgement in an amount
to be determined at trial;
d. Award to Plaintiff the costs and disbursements of the action, along with reasonable
attorneys’ fees, costs, and expenses;
e. Award pre- and post-judgment interest at the maximum legal rate; and
f. Grant all such other relief as is just and proper.
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
Plaintiff demands a jury trial on all claims so triable.

Dated: June 30, 2021

By:

/s/ Elizabeth A. Fegan
Elizabeth A. Fegan
FEGAN SCOTT LLC
150 S. Wacker Drive, 24th Floor
Chicago, IL 60606
Telephone:
312/741-1019
Fax:
312/264-0100
beth@feganscott.com
Cook County Firm No. 63837
ARDC No. 6229226
Jonathan D. Lindenfeld (pro hac vice to be
filed)
FEGAN SCOTT LLC
140 Broadway, 46th Floor
New York, NY 10005
Telephone:
332/216-2101
Fax:
312/264-0100
jonathan@feganscott.com
Attorneys for Plaintiff and Proposed Class
Counsel
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VERIFICATION

I, Michael E. Rediger, under penalties provided by law pursuant to Section 1-109 of the
Illinois Code of Civil Procedure, hereby certify that I have read the foregoing Verified Class
Action Complaint; that the factual statements set forth in this Verified Class Action Complaint
are true and correct, except for those alleged on information and belief; and that I am informed
and I believe that the facts alleged on information and belief are also true

Dated: June 28, 2021

By:
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PROCESS SERVER DELIVERY DETAILS

Date:

Thu, Jul 15, 2021

Server Name:

Sheriff Drop

Entity Served

JP MORGAN

Case Number

2021CHO3216

Jurisdiction

IL

CHASE BANK NA
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Courtroom
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Location

Number

YO

2302

*500

District 1 Court
Cook County, IL

0 OT

8

9

0

2021CH03216
13909422

2120 - Served

2121 - Served

2620 - Sec. of State

2220 - Not Served

2221 - Not Served

2621 - Alias Sec of State

2320 - Served By Mail

2321 - Served By Mail

2420 - Served By Publication

2421 - Served By Publication

Summons - Alias Summons
IN THE
Name

4

5

FILED
7/2/2021 12.53 PM
IRISY MARTINEZ
CIRCUIT CLERK
COOK COUNTY, IL

(03/15/21) CCG 0001 A

CIRCUIT COURT

OF COOK COUNTY,

ILLINOIS

all Parties

MICHAEL E REDIGER

Plaintiff(s)
Vv.

Case No.

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NA.

2021CH03216

Defendant(s)

C T Corporation System, 208 South LaSalle St.,
Suite 814, Chicago, IL 60604

Address of Defendant(s)
Please serve as follows (check one)

t) Certified Mad

‘® Shenff Service

Alas

SUMMONS
To each Defendant:

You have been named a defendant in the complaint 1n this case, a copy of which 1s hereto attached.
You are summoned and required to file your appearance, in the office of the clerk of this court,
within 30 days after service of thus summons, not countung the day of service. If you fail to do so, a

judgment by default may be entered against you for the relief asked in the complaint.
THERE

IS A FEE TO FILE YOUR APPEARANCE

FILING AN APPEARANCE. Your appearance date is NOT a court date It 1s the deadline
for filing your appearance/answer. To file your appearance/answer YOU DO NOT NEED
TO COME TO THE COURTHOUSE, unless you are unable to eFile your appearance /
answer. You can download an Appearance form at http://www dlinoiscourts.gov/Forms/

approved/procedures/appearance.asp. After compleung and saving your Appearance form, you can
electronically file (e-File) 1t with the circuut clerk’s office.
Iris Y Martinez, Clerk of the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois
cookcountyclerkofcourt.org
Page 1 of 3

*
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E-filing is now mandatory with limited exemptions. To e-File, you must first create an account with

an e-Filing service provider. Visit http: // efile. lllinoiscourts.gov/ service-providers.htm to learn more and to select a
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service provider.
If you need additional help or have trouble e-Filing, visit http: //wwwallinotscourts.gov/faq/gethelp.asp or talk with
your local circuit clerk’s office. If you cannot e-file, you may be able to get an exempton that allows you to file inpetson or by mail. Ask your circuit clerk for more mformation or visit www.illinosslegalaid.org,
FEE WAIVER.

If you are unable to pay your court fees, you can apply for a fee waver. For information about

defending yourself 1n a court case (including filing an appearance or fee waver), or to apply for free legal help, go to

www.illinoislegalaid.org. You can also ask your local circuit clerk’s office for a fee waiver application.
COURT DATE. Your court date will be sent to your e-File email account or the email address you provided to
the clerk’s office. You can also call or email the cletk’s office to request your next court date. You will need to
provide your case number OR, if unknown, the name of the Plantff or Defendant.

For criminal case types, you

will also need to provide the Defendant’s birthdate.
REMOTE APPEARANCE. You may be able to attend this court date by phone or video conference.
Thus 1s called a “Remote Appearance” Call the Circuit Clerk at (312) 603-5030 or visit their website at www.
cookcountyclerkofcourt.otg to find out how to do thus.
Contact information for each of the Clerks Office locations 1s included with this summons.

The Cletk’s office 1s

open Mon - Fri, 8:30 am - 4:30 pm, except for court holidays.
To the officer

(Shenff Service)

This summons must be returned by the officer or other person to whom it was given for service, with endorsement
of service and fees, if any, immediately after service.

endorsed.

If service cannot be made, this summons shall be returned so

This summons may not be served later than thirty (30) days after its date.

Witness date

638%7

® Atty No.

7/2/2021 12:53 PM IRIS Y MARTINEZ

~~ Pro Se 99500

Elizabeth A. Fegan (ARDC #6229226)

Name:

Atty. for (if applicable)

Ins Y Martinez, Cle

Michael E. Rediger

[J Service by Certified Mail.

Address

[J Date of Service:

150 S. Wacker Drive, 24th Floor

Chicago

(To be inserted by officer on copy left with employer or other person)

City:
State:

IL

Telephone:

Zip:

60606

(630) 273-2625

Primary Email

beth@feganscott.com, info@feganscott.com

Iris Y Martinez, Clerk of the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois
cookcountyclerkofcourt.org
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to the telephone number ot court date email address below for the

appropriate division, district or department to request your next court date.
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0

Email your case number, or, if you do

not have your case number, email the Plaintiff or Defendant’s name for civil case types, or the Defendant’s name
and birthdate for a criminal case.

CHANCERY DIVISION
Court date EMAIL. ChanCourtDate@cookcountycourt.com
Gen. Info:
(312) 603-5133
CIVIL DIVISION
Court date EMAIL. CivCourtDate@cookcountycourt.com
Gen. Info:
(312) 603-5116
COUNTY DIVISION
Court date EMAIL: CntyCourtDate@cookcountycourt.com
Gen. Info:
(312) 603-5710
RELATIONS /CHILD SUPPORT
DIVISION
Court date EMAIL. DRCourtDate@cookcountycourt.com
OR

DISTRICT
3 - ROLLING MEADOWS
Court date EMAIL. D3CourtDate@cookcountycourt.com
Gen. Info:
(847) 818-3000
DISTRICT 4 - MAYWOOD
Court date EMAIL.

Gen. Info:

Court date EMAIL:

D4CourtDate@cookcountycourt.com

(708) 865-6040

(708) 974-6500
DISTRICT 6 - MARKHAM

(312) 603-6300

Court date EMAIL:

DOMESTIC VIOLENCE
Court date EMAIL. DVCourtDate@cookcountycourt.com
Gen. Infor
(312) 325-9500

Gen. Info:

DISTRICT
2 - SKOKIE

DISTRICT
5 - BRIDGEVIEW
Court date EMAIL: D5CourtDate@cookcountycourt.com

ChildSupCourtDate@cookcountycourt.com

LAW

CASE TYPES

Court date EMAIL. D2CourtDate@cookcountycourt.com
Gen. Info:
(847) 470-7250

Gen. Info:

DOMESTIC

Gen. Infor

ALL SUBURBAN

Gen. Info:

D6CourtDate@cookcountycourt.com

(708) 232-4551

DIVISION

LawCourtDate@cookcountycourt.com

(312) 603-5426

PROBATE DIVISION
Court date EMAIL: ProbCourtDate@cookcountycourt.com
Gen. Info:
(312) 603-6441

Iris Y Martinez, Clerk of the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois

cookcountyclerkofcourt.org
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Courtroom Number 2302
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*

5S

00
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Cook County, IL
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FILED
7/2/2021 12.53 PM
IRISY MARTINEZ
CIRCUIT CLERK
COOK COUNTY, IL
2021CH03216
13909422

2120 - Served

2121 - Served

2620 - Sec. of State

2220 - Not Served

2221 - Not Served

2621 - Alias Sec of State

2320 - Served By Mail

2321 - Served By Mail

2420 - Served By Publication

2421 - Served By Publication

Summons - Alias Summons
IN THE

(03/15/21) CCG 0001 A

CIRCUIT COURT

OF COOK COUNTY,

ILLINOIS

Name all Parties

MICHAEL E. REDIGER

Plamntff(s)
Vv

Case No.

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NA.

2021CH03216

Defendant(s)
C T Corporation System, 208 South LaSalle St.,
Suite 814, Chicago, IL 60604
Address of Defendant(s)

Please serve as follows (check one)

* Certified Mail

® Shenff Service

-.

Alas

SUMMONS
To each Defendant:

You have been named a defendant in the complaint in this case, a copy of which 1s hereto attached.
You are summoned and required to file your appearance, in the office of the clerk of this court,
within 30 days after service of this summons, not countng the day of service. If you fail to do so, a
judgment by default may be entered against you for the relief asked in the complaint.
THERE

IS A FEE TO FILE YOUR APPEARANCE

FILING AN APPEARANCE.
for fing your appearance/ answer.

Your appearance date is NOT

a court date

To file your appearance/ answer YOU

DO

It 1s the deadline

NOT

NEED

TO COME TO THE COURTHOUSE, unless you are unable to eFile your appearance/
answer. You can download an Appearance form at http: //wwwuallinosscourts.gov/Forms/

approved/procedures/appearance.asp.

After completing and saving your Appearance form, you can

electronucally file (e-File) it with the circuut clerk’s office.
Iris Y Martinez, Clerk of the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois

cookcountyclerkofcourt.org
Page 1 of 3
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E-FILING:

+ (83/0154 2%) GCE Q0G1 B

E-filing 1s now mandatory with limited exemptions. To e-File, you must first create an account with

an e-Filing service provider. Visit http // efile.dlinoiscourts.gov/ service-providers.htm to learn more and to select a
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service provider.
If you need additional help or have trouble e-Filing, visit http: //wwwallinoiscourts.gov/faq/gethelp.asp or talk with

your local circuat clerk’s office. If you cannot e-file, you may be able to get an exemption that allows you to file inperson or by mail. Ask your circuit clerk for more mformation or visit www.illinosslegalaid.org,
FEE WAIVER. If you are unable to pay your court fees, you can apply for a fee waiver. For information about
defending yourself in a court case (including filing an appearance or fee waiver), or to apply for free legal help, go to

www.illinoislegalaid.org. You can also ask your local circuit clerk’s office for a fee warver application.
COURT DATE. Your court date will be sent to your e-File email account or the email address you provided to
the clerk’s office. You can also call or email the cletk’s office to request your next court date. You will need to
provide your case number OR, if unknown, the name of the Plamnuff or Defendant. For criminal case types, you
will also need to provide the Defendant’s birthdate.
REMOTE

APPEARANCE.

You may be able to attend this court date by phone or video conference.

This 1s called a “Remote Appearance”

Call the Circuit Clerk at (312) 603-5030 or visit their website at www.

cookcountyclerkofcourt.org to find out how to do thus.
Contact information for each of the Clerk’s Office locations 1s included with this summons.

The Clerk’s office 1s

open Mon - Fn, 8.30 am - 4:30 pm, except for court holidays.
To the officer

(Shenff Service)

This summons must be returned by the officer or other person to whom it was given for service, with endorsement
of service and fees, if any, immediately after service.

If service cannot be made, this summons shall be returned so

endorsed. This summons may not be served later than thurty (30) days after 1ts date.

Witness date

© Atty No. 93837

7/2/2021 12.53 PM IRIS Y MARTINEZ

" Pro Se 99500
Elizabeth A. Fegan (ARDC #6229226)

Name:

Atty for (if applicable)

Irs Y Martinez, Cle

Michael E. Rediger

O Service by Certified Mail.

Address.

[J Date of Service:

190 S Wacker Drive, 24th Floor

(To be inserted by officer on copy left with employer or other person)

City:

State:

Chicago

IL

Telephone:

Zip

60606

(630) 273-2625

Primary Email

beth@feganscott.com, info@feganscott.com

Iris Y Martinez, Clerk of the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois
cookcountyclerkofcourt.org
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GET YOUR

COURT

DATE

BY CALLING

*

IN OR BY EMAIL

50

0

8

9

0

4

5

CALL OR SEND AN EMAIL MESSAGE to the telephone number or court date email address below for the
appropriate division, district or department to request your next court date. Email your case number, or, 1f you do
not have your case number, email the Plaintuff or Defendant’s name for civil case types, or the Defendant’s name
and birthdate for a criminal case.

CHANCERY
Court date EMAIL:

Gen. Info:

ALL SUBURBAN

DIVISION

ChanCourtDate@cookcountycourt.com

(312) 603-5133

Court date EMAIL.

Gen. Info:

Gen. Info:

CivCourtDate@cookcountycourt.com

COUNTY
Gen. Info:

Gen. Info:

DIVISION

CatyCourtDate@cookcountycourt.com

(312) 603-5710

D3CourtDate@cookcountycourt.com

DISTRICT 4 - MAYWOOD
Gen. Info:

D4CourtDate@cookcountycourt.com

(708) 865-6040
DISTRICT 5 - BRIDGEVIEW

Court date EMAIL:

Gen. Info

OR

ChildSupCourtDate@cookcountycourt.com

D5CourtDate@cookcountycourt.com

(708) 974-6500

DISTRICT 6 - MARKHAM

(312) 603-6300

Court date EMAIL. D6CourtDate@cookcountycourt.com
Gen. Info:
(708) 232-4551

DOMESTIC VIOLENCE
Court date EMAIL: DVCourtDate@cookcountycourt.com

(312) 325-9500
LAW DIVISION

Court

date EMAIL:

Gen. Info:
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
COUNTY DEPARTMENT, CHANCERY DIVISION

MICHAEL E. REDIGER, mndividually and

| Case No

2021CH03216

on behalf of all others similarly situated,
Plaintiff,
v
JPMORGAN

DEMAND

FOR JURY TRIAL

CHASE BANK, NA,
Defendant.

VERIFIED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
Plamntiff Michael E. Rediger (“Plaintiff”), individually and on behalf of all those similarly
situated, complains of Defendant JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (“Defendant or “Chase”), based
upon his personal knowledge as to facts specific to him and based upon the investigation of counsel
in all other respects, as follows
INTRODUCTION
1

It 1s axiomatic that 1n a fiduciary relationship an agent acts for the benefit of the

principal, and not the reverse. An attorney 1s a prototypical agent of their client, and this principle
controls all aspects of the attorney-client relationship
2

The prohibition on attorneys benefiting off of their client 1s broad and includes

munute matters such as interest paid on short-term funds held in trust for the client—even when

the interest paid would be neghgible.

1
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That 1s why the Illinois Supreme Court in In re Clayter, 78 111. 2d 276, 278-79, 399

NE 2d 1318, 1319 (1980), admonished lawyers that “it 1s absolutely impermissible for an attorney
to commungle his funds with those of his client or with money he holds as a fiduciary ”

4

Ilhnoss, like all 50 states, has adopted requirements for attorneys to hold short-term

client funds 1n bank accounts which pay all interest earned on client funds to designated non-profit
organizations
5

These accounts are referred to as Interest on Lawyer Trust Accounts or “IOLTAs.”
IOLTAs

are heavily regulated

in order to protect clients

from unscrupulous

attorneys and financial institutions. An attorney may only open an IOLTA at a financial institution

that has agreed to adhere to the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct and has been approved by
the Illinois Attorney Registration & Disciplinary Commission (“ARDC”)

Among the conditions

placed on “eligible financial institutions,” banks acting as custodians of IOLTAs are prohibited
from accessing funds placed in an IOLTA in order to benefit any other account. In the event an
IOLTA 1s overdrawn, eligible financial institutions are required to notify the ARDC
6

Plaintiff 1s an attorney who has been practicing law in Cook County for thirty years

Since becoming a sole practitioner over twenty years ago, Plaintiff has maintained an IOLTA with
Chase and has at all times been a member 1n good standing of the Illinois bar
7

On February 8, 2021, Chase commuitted an intentional breach of Plamtiff’s authority

over his IOLTA by converting funds held by Plaintiff in his IOLTA. Chase did so on the purported
basis that 1t was setting-off an unrelated debt in Plaintiff's business operating account. Chase’s
conduct was a flagrant violation of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct, as well as Chase’s
Deposit Account Agreement with its customers
8

When Plaintiff informed Chase of its violation, Chase asserted that its actions were

permissible under the Deposit Account Agreement and all applicable laws.

2
VERIFIED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

4

5

*

Case: 1:21-cv-04958 Document #: 1-2 Filed: 09/17/21 Page 12 of 26 PageID #:37
*5

FILED DATE. 6/30/2021 5:24 PM

2021CH03216

9

008
90
4 5

Chase’s corporate policy, which converts funds held in attorney IOLTAs, 1s not

without consequence Due to Chase’s conversion of the funds in Plaintiff's IOLTA, two checks
remitted to Plamntiff’s clients for personal injury lien recoveries bounced.

was

forced

to expend

time

and

money

defending

himself before

Additionally, Plaintiff

an ARDC

disciplinary

investigation in order to protect his law license.
10

Accordingly, Plaintiff brings this lawsuit on behalf of himself and all other similarly

situated Illinois attorneys who

maintain IOLTAs

with Chase

Plaintiff seeks

injunctive and

monetary relief, requiring Defendant to reimburse all funds improperly taken from IOLTAs, a
declaratory judgment pursuant to 735 ILCS

5/2-701 that holds

(1) Chase’s Deposit Account

Agreement does not supersede Rule 1 15 of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct, and (11)
Chase may not unilaterally withdraw funds from an IOLTA to satisfy any debt of any other
account’s debt, and compensatory damages together with pre-judgment interest to all members of
the Class who suffered an injury caused by Defendant’s conduct.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
11

This putative class action 1s brought on behalf of only Illmois citizens admitted to

practice law 1n the State of Illinois who maintain client trust accounts with Chase.
12

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 735 ILCS 5/2-209 because Chase regularly

transacts business within the State and has committed tortious acts within the State.
13

Venue 1s appropriate in the Circuit Court of Cook County under 735 ILCS 5/2- 101,

et seq , and 735 ILCS 5/2-103 because Chase 1s located within Cook County and because the
transactions or some part thereof occurred in Cook County, out of which the causes of action arose.

3
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PARTIES
A.

Plaintiff
14

Plaintiff 1s a citizen of Illinois and resides in DuPage County, Illinois Plaintiff 1s

the sole principal of the Law Office of Michael E. Rediger, d/b/a The Rediger Law Firm, located
at 161 N

Clark St, Ste. 2550, Chicago, IL 60601-3246 (the “Law Office”)

Plaintiff maintains the

Law Office’s operating bank account and IOLTA at Chase, and his primary Chase branch 1s
located at 238 N

State, Chicago, IL 60601

Chase maintains Plaintiff's IOLTA within the State of

Illinois

B.

Defendant
15

Defendant Chase 1s a national banking association with U S branches 1n 38 states

and Washington, D C Chase maintains over a hundred retail locations within Chicago alone, and
its

Illinois

headquarters

1s located

at

10

South

Dearborn

Street,

Chicago,

IL

60603 ' On

formation and belief, Chase 1s the largest custodian of IOLTAs 1n Illinois
SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS
A.

The Illinois Supreme Court requires all Illinois attorneys to maintain IOLTAs and

prohibits the commingling of funds in an attorney’s possession.
16

As their clients’ fiduciaries, lawyers are prohibited from benefiting off the property

they may hold in trust for their clients. This principle extends to a prohibition on earning interests
from financial institutions that the attorney may utilize to deposit their clients’ funds.

17

Over the last forty years financial institutions began to offer Interest on Lawyer

Trust Accounts. IOLTASs are pooled, interest or dividend-bearing business checking accounts for

!

See

Chase,

Chicago,

Illinois

branches

https .//locator
chase com/il/chicago (last accessed June 28, 2021)
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the deposit of client funds that pay all interest earned to vanous non-profit entities, typically
benefiting indigent members of society 2
18

In 1983, the Chicago and Illinois State Bar Associations established the Lawyers

Trust Fund (“LTE”), which issues grants to non-profit organizations that provide civil legal aid for
the poor in Illinois Four years later, in 1987, the Illinois Supreme Court 1ssued a rule mandating
all Illinois attorneys participate in the State’s IOL TA program which benefits the LTF 3
19

IOLTAsS are strictly regulated to ensure that client funds are properly accounted for

and protected.
20

The

most

comingling their own

basic

tenet of IOLTA

regulations

funds with that of their clients.

Rule

1s the prohibition

on attorneys

1 15(a) of the Illinois Rules of

Professional Conduct demands that Illino1s attorneys hold all “property of clients or third persons”
within their possession “separate from the lawyer's own property ”
21

Comment 1 to Rule 1 15 adds that “[a]ll property that 1s the property of clients or

third persons, including prospective clients, must be kept separate from the lawyer’s business and
personal property and, if monies, in one or more client trust accounts.”
22

Relatedly, Rule 1 15(b) states that an attorney may not deposit their own funds into

an IOLTA, except “for the sole purpose of paying bank service charges on that account, but only
in an amount necessary for that purpose.”

2 Lawyers Trust Fund of Illinois, JOLTA Basics, https //1tf org/lawyers/iolta-basics/ (last
accessed June 28, 2021)

‘id
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23

The ARDC, which oversees Rule 1 15 compliance, warns attorneys to “NEVER

allow the funds being held for one client or third person to be used, even momentarily, to satisfy
the obligations of another client or third person.”
24

In order to ensure that client funds are not inadvertently comingled with third-party

funds, Comment 1 to Rule 1 15 instructs that “[c]lient trust accounts should be made identifiable
through their designation as ‘client trust account’ or ‘client funds account’ or words of similar
mport indicating the fiduciary nature of the account.”
25

IOLTAs

may not be opened at any bank willing to open a business checking

account bearing the title “client trust account.” Rather, Rule
maintain IOLTAs

1 15(a) requires that attorneys

“at an eligible financial institution in the state where the lawyer’s office 1s

situated.”
26

To qualify as an “eligible financial institution,” the bank must satisfy certain

criteria. See Rule 1 15(f), (h), ())(3)
27

For instance,

all eligible

financial

institutions

must

submit

a Trust Account

Overdraft Notification agreement to the ARDC, wherein it agrees to notify the ARDC whenever
an IOLTA 1s overdrawn. See Rule 1 15(h) “This ensures that the ARDC

1s aware of mishandling

of trust accounts that may dicate other problems with a lawyer’s conduct

4 Attorney Registration & Disciplinary Commission of the Supreme Court of Illinoss,
Client Trust Account Handbook (Revised April 2018),
https.//www iardc.org/ChentTrustAccountHandbook.
pdf (last accessed June 28, 2021) (emphasis

added)
5 Lawyers Trust Fund of Illinois, Become an Eligible Financial Institution,
https //Itf org/financial-nstitutions/become-an-eligible-financial-institution/ (last accessed June
28, 2021)

6
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Notably, eligible financial institutions are prohibited from taking funds from an

IOLTA to pay for fees charged to any other account. Rule 1 15(f)(5) states

“Fees 1n excess of the

earnings accrued on an individual IOLTA account for any month shall not be taken from earnings

accrued on other IOLTA accounts or from the principal of the account.”
29

When an attorney opens an IOLTA with an eligible financial institution, they must

provide the bank with a form “Notice to Financial Institution to Establish IOLTA Account.”
Therein, the attorney must direct the bank to remit all interest payments directly to the LTF and
list the tax identification number (TIN) of the LTF on the IOLTA.” Attorneys must also provide
the LTF with a “Notice of Enrollment in the IOLTA Program” in which the attorney identifies the

IOLTA and financial institution ®
30

Failure to maintain an IOLTA at an eligible financial institution and adhere to Rule

1 15 of the Ilhnois Rules of Professional Conduct can result in ARDC

disciplinary actions,

including suspension or revocation of an attorney’s license to practice law

B.

Chase is registered as an “eligible financial institution” and has agreed to adhere to
Rule 1.15 when offering IOLTAs to Illinois attorneys.
31

Chase 1s an “eligible financial institution” and permitted to offer [OLTAs under

Rule 1 15°

6 Lawyers Trust Fund of Illinois, Notice to Financial Institution to Establish IOLTA
Account (Revised Sept. 2015), http //Itf org/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/01 IOLTA-Notice-of-

Enrollment-9-2015-Fillable.
pdf (last accessed June 28, 2021)
"1d
8 Id
9 See Lawyers Trust Fund of Ilhmois, Eligible Financial Institutions,

https./Itf org/lawyers/eligible-financial-institutions/ (last accessed June 28, 2021)
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32

Illinois.

Chase

500
8 9 04

On information and belief, Chase 1s the largest custodian of attorney IOLTAs

achieved this dominant position amongst

in

the legal profession in Illinois by

promoting its IOLTA services in legal industry periodicals, newsletters, and bar events.
33

Chase promotes its “Business Checking Accounts” for use by attorneys as IOLTAs

Chase currently charges Illinois attorneys a $15 Monthly

Service/Maintenance Fee for each

IOLTA maintained at the bank. '°
34

Like 1ts general business checking accounts and other client accounts, IOLTAs at

Chase are governed by the bank’s “Deposit Account Agreement”!!
35

Chase acknowledges that the Agreement does not supersede Rule 1 15 and Chase’s

obligations as an “eligible financial institution.” Specifically, Section IX.A. of the Agreement
states

“This agreement, all accounts and services provided to you, and any dispute relating to

those accounts and services are governed by federal law and, when not superseded by federal law,

the law of the state where your account 1s located.”!?
36

Chase

further states in the Deposit Account Agreement

that “[bJusiness trust

accounts for professionals regulated by a state (or a self-regulatory body under a state’s laws) are

located 1n the designated state >’!

10 Chase, Additional Banking Services and Fees for Business Accounts Deposit Account
Agreement (effective Apnl 18, 2021),
https .//www chase com/content/dam/chasecom/en/checking/documents/biz-how-yourtransaction-will-work.
pdf (last accessed June 28, 2021)

'' Chase, Deposit Account Agreement and Privacy Notice (effective Apnil 18, 2021),
https.//www chase.com/content/dam/chaseconyen/checking/documents/deposit

ent pdf (last accessed June 28, 2021)
12 Id

Bd

8
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Chase commingles funds held in Plaintiff’s IOLTA and takes client funds for its
own use, without Plaintiff’s authorization.

37

Plaintiff 1s an attorney located in Chicago, Illinois. For over twenty years, Plaintiff

maintained his Law Office’s IOLTA and business operating accounts at Chase.
38

On February 3, 2021, Plaintiff deposited a $5,000 check into his Chase business

operating account.

39

On February 8, 2021, Chase learned that the deposited check was 1ssued from a

closed account and returned the deposited proceeds

Additionally, Chase charged Plaintiff a $12

“Deposited Item Returned fee.” As a result of the returned proceeds and Deposited Item Returned
fee, Plaintiff’s business operating account became overdrawn.
40

The next day, on February 9, 2021, Chase blatantly violated Rule 1 15 by allegedly

setting-off the overdrawn balance with funds held in Plaintiff's IOLTA. Plaintiff did not provide
authorization to withdraw funds from his IOLTA, nor was he provided prior notice of Chase’s
intention to do so
41

Upon post hoc notification of Chase’s actions, Plaintiff promptly contacted Chase

to address the unauthorized taking Plaintiff explained to a Chase employee that the bank may not
withdraw funds from a client trust account to offset any fees incurred by the Law Office’s business
operating account.

42

Chase was unswayed and on March

11, 2021, sent a letter to Plaintiff stating that

the Deposit Account Agreement authorizes Chase to “use funds in any of [Plaintiff’s] accounts to

pay all or part of a debt.”
43

Chase’s unauthorized taking of funds from Plaintiffs IOLTA 1n violation of Rule

1 15 was not harmless

Prior to Chase’s withdraw of funds from Plaintiff's IOLTA, Plaintiff issued

two checks from the IOLTA

to his clients related to personal jury recoveries.

9
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Chase’s improper withdrawal of funds from Plaintiff's IOLTA, the two checks bounced due to
nonsufficient funds.
44

Consequently—and despite Chase’s disregard for Rule

1 15(f)’s prohibition on

taking funds from an IOLTA for the benefit of another account—Chase notified the ARDC of the
overdrawing of Plaintiff’s IOLTA.
45

After expending considerable time and money on the matter, Plamtiff resolved the

complaint raised by the ARDC, because the overdrawn IOLTA was related to Chase’s improper
actions and not any intentional ethical violations by Plaintiff

46

In this process, the ARDC confirmed that Chase, as an eligible financial institution

under Rule 1 15, 1s not permitted to unilaterally withdraw funds from an attorney’s IOLTA 1n order
to satisfy charges incurred in personal accounts held for the benefit of another party
CLASS ALLEGATIONS
47

Plaintiff brings this action pursuant to 735 ILCS 5/2-801 on behalf of himself and

all others similarly situated.
48

Plaintiff seeks to represent a class defined as

All lawyers and law firms that

maintain Interest on Lawyer Trust Accounts (IOLTAs) in Illinois at Chase (the “Class”)
49

Excluded from the Class are Chase, 1ts affiliates, employees, officers and directors,

and the Judge(s) assigned to this case. Plaintiff reserves the nght to modify, change, or expand
the Class definition based on discovery and further investigation.
50

Numerosity' Upon information and belief, the Class 1s so numerous that joinder of

all members 1s impracticable. While the exact number and identities of individual members of
the Class are unknown at this time, such information being 1n the sole possession of Defendant
and obtainable by Plaintiff only through the discovery process, Plaintiff believes, and on that

10
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basis alleges, that Chase 1s the largest provider of attorney trust accounts in the State of Illinois

and, as of 2020, there are over 40,000 attorney trust accounts in the State '4
51

Exustence

and Predomunance

of Common

Questions

of Fact and Law

Common

questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class. These questions predominate over
the questions affecting individual Class Members

These common legal and factual questions

include, but are not limited to

a

Whether Defendant engaged in the conduct alleged herein,

b.

Whether Defendant’s practice using funds held in attorney IOLTAs to setoff
debts incurred 1n other bank accounts constitute conversion,

¢.

Whether Defendant’s practices violate Rule 1 15 of the Illinois Rules of
Professional Conduct,

d

Whether Defendant’s Deposit Account Agreement supersedes Rule 1 15 of
the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct, and

e

Whether

Plaintiff and Class Members

suffered damages

as a result of

Chase’s practices, and 1f so, how much.

52

Typicality' Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the Class because Plaintiff

1s a member of the Bar of Illinois in good standing and his Law Office maintains an IOLTA with
Chase, as does each member of the Class

Furthermore, Plaintiff and all Members of the Class

sustained 1njuries resulting from Defendant’s wrongful conduct. Plaintiff 1s advancing the same
claims and legal theories on behalf of himself and all absent Class Members.

14 See Attorney Registration & Disciplinary Commission of the Supreme Court of
Illmoss, Annual Report of 2020 (April 30, 2021), https.//www
1ardc org/AnnualReport2020 pdf
(last accessed June 28, 2021)
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Plaintiff 1s an adequate representative because his interests do not

conflict with the interests of the Class that he seeks to represent, he has retained counsel that are
competent and highly experienced in complex class action hitigation, and his counsel intend to
prosecute this action vigorously The interests of the Class will be fairly and adequately protected
by Plaintiff and his counsel
54

Supenonity

A class action 1s superior to all other available means of fair and

efficient adjudication of the claims of Plaintiff and Members of the Class

The injury suffered

by each individual Class member 1s relatively small in comparison to the burden and expense of
individual prosecution
conduct.

of the complex

and extensive

It would be virtually impossible

litigation necessitated by Defendant’s

for Members

of the Class

effectively the wrongs done to them. Even if the Members

individually to redress

of the Class could afford such

individual litigation, the court system could not. Individualized litigation presents a potential for
inconsistent

or contradictory

judgments

Individualized

litigation

increases

the

delay

and

expense to all parties, and to the court system, presented with the complex legal and factual
issues of the case. By contrast, the class action device presents far fewer management difficulties
and provides the benefits of single adjudication, an economy of scale, and comprehensive
supervision by a single court. Upon formation and belief, members of the Class can be readily
identified and notified based on, inter alia, Defendant’s database of IOLTAs

and the LTF’s

records of Notices to Financial Institution to Establish IOLTA.
55

Declaratory and Injunctive Relief Defendant has acted or refused to act on grounds

generally applicable to Plaintiff and the other members of the Class, thereby making appropnate
final imjunctive relief and declaratory relief, as described below, with respect to the Class
Members

as a whole.

12
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Defendant has acted, and refused to act, on grounds generally applicable to the

Class, thereby making appropriate final equitable relief with respect to the Class as a whole.
CAUSES OF ACTION
FIRST CAUSE

OF ACTION

Conversion

57

Plaintiff incorporates by reference each allegation as if fully set forth herein,

58

Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the other members of the

59

Plaintiff and the Class have rightful possession and control over the funds held in

Class.

trust for their clients deposited with Chase
60

Plaintiff and the Class did not authorize Chase to unilaterally withdraw funds held

in client trust accounts to satisfy debts or charges incurred by any other account.
61

The Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct, to which Chase has agreed to follow,

prohibit Chase from unilaterally withdrawing funds held in client trust accounts to satisfy debts or
charges incurred by any other account.
62

Despite 1ts obligations as an “eligible financial institution” under Rule 1 15 and 1ts

acknowledgment that client trust accounts are subject to state and regulatory restrictions, Chase
maintains as a general corporate practice that its Deposit Account Agreement with Plaintiff and
Class Members permits 1t to “setoff”” debts of Plaintiff and Class Members with proceeds 1n client
trust accounts

63

Defendant has acted in accordance with its general practice and has impermissibly

withdrawn funds from Plamntiff’s IOLTA to satisfy charges in his Law Office’s operating account.
In so doing, Defendant converted funds held in Plaintiff's IOLTA without authonty

13
VERIFIED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

=

Case: 1:21-cv-04958 Document #: 1-2 Filed: 09/17/21 Page 23 of 26 PageID #:48
*5

FILED DATE: 6/30/2021 5:24 PM

2021CH03216

64

00

8

95

0

On information and belief, Chase has also engaged in this same practice with

respect to IOLTASs held by other class members. Further, Chase has taken the position that it 1s
entitled to continue this corporate practice in the future
65

As a result of Defendant’s

retention of funds impermissibly withdrawn

from

Plamntiff’s client trust account, Plaintiff was unable to access such funds, which were needed to

remut payment

of his clients’

personal

injury liens

Defendant’s

conversion

of funds

from

Plaintiff’s IOLTA also caused Plaintiff to be subjected to disciplinary actions by the ARDC, which
required the expenditure of his time and money, and harmed his goodwill
66

As a result of Defendant’s wrongful actions, Plamntiff and the Class were deprived

of the use of funds within their client trust accounts and sustained cognizable losses

Moreover,

they are at continuing risk of injury and irreparable harm as a result of Defendant’s stated policies
in contravention of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct
SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
Declaratory Judgment
67

Plamnt:iff incorporates by reference each allegation as if fully set forth herein.

68

Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the other members of the

Class, seeking a declaration that Chase 1s prohibited from withdrawing funds from IOLTAs to
setoff any other debts
69

In order to be an “eligible financial institution” authonzed to hold Illinois attorney

client funds, Chase 1s required to adhere to Rule 1 15 of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct.
70

Rule 1 15(f)(5) prohibits taking funds from an IOLTA to pay for fees charged to

any other account.
71

Chase maintains that its Deposit Account Agreement permits 1t to “setoff” debts in

any non-trust account from funds in IOLTASs controlled by the same attorney

14
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But the Deposit Account Agreement 1s subject to state laws and the Illinois Rules

of Professional Conduct, and the Deposit Account Agreement does not supersede Rule 1 15
73

An actual controversy exists because Chase has acted 1n accordance with 1ts general

corporate practice of unilaterally withdrawing

funds from IOLTAs

to satisfy debts incurred in

other accounts and has indicated 1ts intention to maintain the practice
74

A judgment regarding Chase’s rights under the Deposit Account Agreement with

respect to Illinois attorney IOLTAs 1s capable of a definite and immediate determination and would
aid 1n the termunation of Plaintiff's claims against Chase for its withdrawal of funds from his

IOLTA.
75

Accordingly, Plaintiff 1s entitled to a declaratory judgment pursuant to 735 ILCS

5/2-701 that holds (1) the Deposit Account Agreement does not supersede Rule 1 15 of the Illinois
Rules of Professional Conduct; and (11) Chase may not unilaterally withdraw funds from an IOLTA

to satisfy any debt of another account.
REQUEST FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of members of the Class, respectfully
requests that this Court:
a.

Certify this action as a class action, proper and maintainable pursuant to 735 ILCS 5/2801, declare that Plaintiff 1s a proper class representative, and appoint Plaintiff's
counsel as Class Counsel,

b

Grant appropriate injunctive and/or declaratory relief, including, without limitation, an
order that prohibits Defendant from using funds held in a client trust account to setoff
debts incurred 1n any other account and requires Defendant to notify the ARDC of all
prior occurrences of improper takings from IOLTAs,
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Award Plaintiff and Class Members actual, compensatory, general, special, incidental,
statutory, punitive, and consequential damages, costs, and disgorgement 1n an amount
to be determined at trial,

d

Award to Plaintiff the costs and disbursements of the action, along with reasonable.
attorneys’ fees, costs, and expenses,

e.

Award pre- and post-judgment interest at the maximum legal rate, and

f

Grant all such other relief as 1s just and proper
DEMAND

FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff demands a jury trial on all claims so triable.

Dated. June 30, 2021

By

_/s/ Elizabeth A Fegan
Elizabeth A Fegan
FEGAN

SCOTT LLC

150 S Wacker Drive, 24% Floor
Chicago, IL

60606

Telephone

312/741-1019

Fax
312/264-0100
beth@feganscott.com

Cook County Firm No
ARDC No

63837

6229226

Jonathan D Lindenfeld (pro hac vice to be
filed)
FEGAN SCOTT LLC

140 Broadway, 46" Floor
New York, NY
Telephone
Fax.

10005
332/216-2101
312/264-0100

jonathan{@feganscott.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff and Proposed Class
Counsel
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VERIFICATION

[, Michael E. Rediger, under penalties provided by law pursuant to. Section 1-109 of the

Illiriois Code of Civil Procedure, hereby certify that I have read the foregoing Venfied Class
Action Complaint; that the factual statements set forth in this Verified Class Action Complaint
are true and correct, except for those alleged on information and belief; and that I am informed
and I believe that the facts alleged on information and belief are also true

7

June 28, 2021

lad

ay

———rr

oe

— ————

—

—

Michael E. aly

a

Dated.

17
VERIFIED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

LE

FILED DATE. 6/30/2021 5:24 PM

2021CH03216

a

EY

Case: 1:21-cv-04958 Document #: 1-3 Filed: 09/17/21 Page 1 of 4 PageID #:52

EXHIBIT C

Case:10:00
1:21-cv-04958
Document
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IN THE CIRCUIT COUT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
COUNTY DEPARTMENT, CHANCERY DIVISION
MICHAEL E. REDIGER,

FILED
8/13/2021 11:07 AM
IRIS Y. MARTINEZ
CIRCUIT CLERK
COOK COUNTY, IL
2021CH03216
14427304

Plaintiff,
v.

Case No. 2021 CH 03216

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Defendant.

DEFENDANT’S UNOPPOSED MOTION FOR EXTENSION OF TIME TO
ANSWER OR OTHERWISE RESPOND TO COMPLAINT
Pursuant to Rule 183, Defendant JPMORGAN CHASE BANK (“JPMorgan”), by and
through its attorneys, seeks an additional forty-five (45) days to answer or otherwise respond to
Plaintiff Michael E. Rediger’s (“Plaintiff”) Complaint at Law. In support of its motion,
JPMorgan would respectfully show:
1.

On July 15, 2021, Plaintiff served JPMorgan with his Complaint.

2.

JPMorgan’s response to the Complaint is currently due on August 16, 2021.

3.

On July 23, 2021, undersigned counsel conferred with Plaintiff’s counsel regarding

an extension of time to respond to the Complaint to enable the parties to explore a potential
resolution of this matter. To that end, JPMorgan therefore seeks to extend its deadline to answer or
otherwise plead by forty-five days to September 30, 2021.
4.

By email of August 12, 2021, counsel for Plaintiff stated that they do not oppose

this motion.
5.
purpose.

This request for extension is not being made for any undue delay or improper
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WHEREFORE, JPMorgan requests that the Court grant its motion for an additional fortyfive (45) days, to September 30, 2021, to answer or otherwise respond to Plaintiff’s Complaint.
Respectfully submitted,
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.

By:

Cook County Firm No. 56232
Leonard A. Gail
Hillary W. Coustan
MASSEY & GAIL LLP
50 East Washington Street
Suite 400
Chicago, Illinois 60602
(312) 283-1590
lgail@masseygail.com
hcoustan@masseygail.com

2

/s/ Hillary W. Coustan______
One of Its Attorneys
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I, the undersigned counsel, certify that on August 13, 2021, I served a copy of the
foregoing on the following counsel of record by email.
Elizabeth A. Fegan
FEGAN SCOTT LLC
150 S. Wacker Drive, 24th Floor
Chicago, IL 60606
beth@feganscott.com
Jonathan D. Lindenfeld
FEGAN SCOTT LLC
140 Broadway, 46th Floor
New York, NY 10005
jonathan@feganscott.com

/s/ Hillary W. Coustan
Hillary W. Coustan
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|
IN THE CIRCUIT cour] OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
COUNTY DEPARTMENT, CHANCERY DIVISION

MICHAEL E. REDIGER,
Plaintiff,
v.

|

Case No. 2021 CH 03216
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

JPNIORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.
Defendant. |

[PROPOSED] ORDER
This matter having come before the Court upon Defendant JPMorgan Chase Bank’s
Unopposed Motion for Extension of Time to'Answer or Otherwise Respond to Plaintiff’s
Complaint.
1.

The motion for extension of time is GRANTED.

2.

The previous due date of August 16, 2021 is stricken.

3:

JPMorgan’s response| to the Plaintiff's complaint is due on September 30, 2021.

Dated:

|
||

Entered:

!

Lins
JUDGE
“Bo

PREPARED BY:

Hillary

W. Coustan .

(becoustan@masseygail.com)

MAKSEY & GAILLLP
50

East Washington Street

Suife 400
Chitago, Illinois 60602
(312) 283-1590

|

Cony 41 uy

7

“2

9
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION
MICHAEL E. REDIGER, individually and on
behalf of all others similarly situated,
Plaintiff,
v.
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.
Defendant.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No. ______

AFFIDAVIT OF HILLARY WEIS COUSTAN IN SUPPORT OF
DEFENDANT JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.’S NOTICE OF REMOVAL
I, Hillary Weis Coustan, being duly sworn, do hereby depose and say as follows:
1.

I am over the age of eighteen and am fully competent to make this declaration. I

make this declaration based upon personal knowledge unless otherwise indicated.
2.

I am admitted to practice in the State of Illinois and in the United States District

Court for the Northern District of Illinois. I am one of the attorneys for Defendant JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A. in the above-captioned matter.
3.

On August 20, 2021, I received a letter from Elizabeth Fegan, counsel for the

plaintiff in this matter, Michael Rediger.
4.

The August 20, 2021 letter contained a settlement demand in excess of $75,000 in

exchange for a release in this matter.
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I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Illinois that the foregoing
is true and correct.

Executed on September 17, 2021 in Chicago, Illinois.
/s/ Hillary Weis Coustan
Hillary Weis Coustan
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